PETITIONER TIC BRIEF

JAMES L. HARRISON GENERAL COUNSEL

STEVEN E. ROHAN ASSISTANT COUNSEL

715 Towncentre
421 West Church Street
Jacksonville, Florida 32202
(904) 630-4900

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER JACKSONVILLE ELECTRIC AUTHORITY

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

All references to the Petitioner, Jacksonville Electric Authority, will be made by referring to it as JEA.

The Respondent, Draper's Egg and Poultry Co., Inc., a Florida Corporation, will be referred to as Draper.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 31, 1986, Draper filed a Complaint for Declaratory Relief raising the issues which are the subject of this action. On April 21, 1986, the JEA filed a Counterclaim that sought judgment for \$297,303.85 for unbilled but consumed water and sewage services. On May 15, 1987, trial was held. On July 8, 1987, the Trial Court entered its Final Judgment for Draper. The case was appealed to the First District Court of Appeal and on September 13, 1988, an opinion was entered reversing the Trial Court on the issue of estoppel but affirming the Trial Court on the issue of accord and satisfaction. The parties filed Petitions for Rehearing and on October 4, 1988, said petitions were denied.

On October **31, 1988,** JEA filed its Notice to Invoke the Jurisdiction of the Florida Supreme Court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This case involves a water and sewer billing error made by the public provider and biller of services, the JEA, which negatively impacted the customer, Draper. (JEA is responsible for the billing of all City of Jacksonville (City) water and sewer services). There was no issue at trial as to whether the services of the JEA were used. The only issues were the legal defenses of accord and satisfaction and estoppel.

The facts can be simply summarized by stating that the JEA uncovered a 17 month continuing billing error in April of 1985, and has demanded

payment for the sewer services provided. Draper denied recovery on the basis of accord and satisfaction and estoppel.

A recitation of the pertinent facts follows:

Draper operated an egg and poultry business which utilized a great deal of well and city water. Draper paid the **JEA** for the City water it used and also for sewage. Sewage billing was based on water usage that was expected to return to the sewer.

Draper had seven water meters: two sewer surcharge meters (calculating well water usage that applied in a determination of the sewage charge), four sewer deduct meters (calculating City water credits to Draper that applied in a determination of the sewage charge), and one water meter (calculating City water usage that applied in a determination of the sewage charge). A "deduct" water meter measured water consumption that did not result in a charge for sewage (e.g., water used for ice that was not put in sewer).

Draper was billed for three accounts by the **JEA**. Two of the accounts were for the two sewer surcharge meters on the two pumps on Draper's well. The third account on the bill was for the use of City water.

The December 1984 Billing Inquiry

In January of 1985, Mr. William E. Draper, Jr., owner/operator, inquired about a seemingly high bill on one of his accounts. A customer service representative with JEA advised Mr. Draper that the billing transpired over a hundred and fifty-seven day period and that is why it seemed unusually high. Draper had replaced the meter and the account had not been billed for five months. A letter was written to Mr. Draper advising him of the time period it covered and that JEA considered the matter concluded.

Another customer service representative received a call from Mr. Draper asking for the balances on all his accounts and asking that a credit balance on one account be transferred to another account with a debit balance. A supervisor approved the transfer. Subsequently, a letter was sent advising Mr. Draper that the requested transfer had been performed.

The Draper December 1984 inquiry resulted in no compromise, but rather a shifting of credits and debits. Draper made a payment of \$21,253.16, which constituted substantial payment in full of all sums known to be owed at that time by a check marked "payment in full through February 19, 1985, for all water and sewer charge for Draper's Egg and Poultry Company, Inc., 2400 McCoy Boulevard, Jacksonville, Florida^{tt}. This payment was made two months before the 1983-1985 logging error was uncovered.

The 1983-1985 Logging Error

In April of 1985, the JEA discovered, in one of its three accounts with Draper, a meter reading logging error that had existed since November of 1983. The other accounts were satisfactorily billed and paid. It was discovered that a new sewer "deduct" meter had been mislogged by a meter reader as a sewer "charge" meter and vice versa. The resulting miscalculations from this error caused underbillings of \$297,303.85.

Since actual <u>consumption</u> of the meters was correctly read, the billing was recalculated after April of 1985, using the correct meter readings on the correct meters. The actual rebilling was not sent to Draper until November of 1985, and it covered the period from December 1983 through April 1985, when the error was discovered, as well as the period from April 1985 through October 1985, when final calculations and investigations were being made. Due to the

size of the rebilling, JEA took considerable time in verifying the new findings and the recalculation.

The recalculations resulted in a bill due and owing (over what had been previously paid) to Draper of \$297,303.85. Draper refused to pay this sum.

SUMMARY (UMENT

Between December 1984 and March 1985, Draper questioned and eventually paid a JEA bill for water and sewage. The accounts were never altered through compromise. Draper's check to the JEA for the December 1984 billing stated "payment in full ..." but there was never a dispute.

In April 1985, the JEA uncovered a major logging error which occurred between November of 1983 and October of 1985 resulting in a sum due as of November of 1985 of \$297,303.85. Draper refused to pay and raised the legal defense of accord and satisfaction and estoppel. The Trial Court concurred and entered judgment for Draper and the First District Court of Appeal affirmed on the issue of accord and satisfaction.

The decision of the First District Court of Appeal is in direct conflict with the case of Corporation De Gestion Ste-Foy, Inc. v. Florida Power and Light Company, 385 So.2d 124 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980), which stated:

"Applying these principles to the precise situation involved in this case, three well-reasoned decisions from other jurisdictions have squarely held that a customer of a public utility <u>simply has no defense</u>—either of estoppel or <u>of accord and satisfaction</u>—to charges for services which were actually furnished but which had previously been negligently underbilled."

Corporation De Gestion Ste-Foy, Inc. v. Florida Power and Light Company, (emphasis added) 385 So.2d 124,126 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980).

There were two distinct and separate "disputes" involved in this case. By ignoring this, the First District Court opinion below conflicts with Jobear, Inc. v. Dewind Machinery Company, 402 So.2d 1357 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981). Jobear stands for the proposition that when one resolves a claim that is wholly unrelated to a subsequent claim, no accord and satisfaction can be reached. Both conflicts were quite clearly addressed by Judge Ervin in his dissent below.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION IS IN CONFLICT WITH CORPORATION DE GESTION STE-FOY V. FLORIDA POWER & LIGHT.

De Gestion stands for the proposition that a public utility (here the JEA) is required to collect undercharges even when they result from its own negligence, or contractual provisions to the contrary.

The majority below attempted to distinguish **De Gestion** when it stated at pages **3** and 4 of its opinion:

"However, De Gestion did not involve any identified dispute or negotiated settlement at the time of payment. We do not consider a public utility's settlement of a disputed bill to be an undue preference or advantage, or to contravene public policy. We therefore decline to extend De Gestion to the circumstances of the present case."

But **De Gestion** clearly prohibits the defense of accord and satisfaction in **all** public utility service cases:

". • three well-reasoned decisions from other jurisdictions have squarely held that a customer of a public utility <u>simply</u> has no defense—either of estoppel or of accord and satisfaction—to charges for services

which were actually furnished but which had previously been negligently underbilled."

Corporation De Gestion Ste-Foy, Inc. v. Florida Power and Light Company, (emphasis added) 385 So.2d 124,126 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980).

Judge Ervin in his dissenting opinion below, noted the explicit conflict with **De Gestion:**

"Alternatively, even if it can be reasonably concluded that JEA's acceptance of the two checks in the amount of \$21,967.57 reflected an agreement by it that such amount was payment in full through the meter reading of February 19, 1985, for all water and sewer services theretofore used at Draper's business, the Third District Court of Appeal's opinion in Corporation De Gestion Ste-Foy, Inc. v. Florida Power and Light Company, 385 So.2d 124,126 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980), clearly holds that a customer's defense of accord and satisfaction, as applied to a public utility's negligent billing errors for services that were actually received by the customer, is barred by overriding public policy interests:

"The majority's holding, approving the lower court's order barring the JEA from recovering accrued undercharges through the February 19, 1985, meter readings, is, in my judgment, not only <u>in conflict</u> with a substantial body of out-of-state case law authority, but in conflict as well with the rule announced by the Third District Court of Appeal in *De Gestion*. I would therefore reverse the order entered below in its entirety." (emphasis added).

In **De Gestion,** Florida Power and Light Company misread the master electric meter at its premises for three (3) years resulting in a subsequent \$99,000 charge to the customer. As in the case *sub judice*, the complaining party there did not allege that they had not actually consumed the electricity. It raised defenses like Draper herein of estoppel and accord and satisfaction.

In **De Gestion**, it was the payment of monthly bills that was the basis for the alleged accord and satisfaction. In the case **sub** *judice* it was the mere

endorsement of "payment in full" which constituted the alleged accord and satisfaction. But **De Gestion**, expressly conflicting with the decision below, stated:

"A customer of a public utility simply has no defense ••• or accord and satisfaction to charges for services which were actually furnished but which had previously been negligently underbilled."

De Gestion, 385 So.2d at 126.

This is a patent conflict which should be addressed by this Honorable Court. Either accord and satisfaction is allowed as a defense in public utility service case or it is not. The question has statewide and national public policy implications and should be resolved by this Honorable Court.

POINT II

THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION IS IN CONFLICT WITH THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS ON THE ISSUE OF ACCORD AND SATISFACTION AND SEPARATE DISPUTES.

In the case *sub judice*, there is no question that there were two separate "disputes" between Draper and the JEA. The December 1984 Draper "inquiry" resulted in the payment of a check to the JEA for \$21,967.57 and a follow up payment of \$714.42. These checks were indisputably forwarded to the JEA as payment for the December 1984 billing, which was payment in full for all sums that all parties believed to be in dispute at that time. It was not until <u>two</u> months later that the 1983-1985 logging errors became apparent. It is undisputed that there was no meeting of the minds regarding the 1983-85 billing errors when the checks for \$21,967.57 and \$714.42 were received in February and March of 1985. Nobody knew of the logging errors.

The majority below is in conflict with Jobear, Inc. v. Dewind Machinery Company, 402 So.2d 1357 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981), which also involved separate claims. In that case the Court stated that there could be no accord and satisfaction when separate claims are involved:

"Appellant first contends that appellee's acceptance of the check which expressly said that its endorsement would constitute a full and complete release of appellant acted as an accord and satisfaction as to all claims of appellee against appellant.

"Contrary to the cases relied upon by appellant, sub judice there were two separate and distinct claims -- one for rent and the other for parts and labor. The claims were pled in separate counts; the check in question says nothing of the rental indebtedness; and the language of the restrictive endorsement sustains the interpretation that the release applied to the indebtedness for parts and labor. We therefore conclude that appellant's argument fails." (emphasis added) Id. at 1358.

Rent versus parts and labor in **Jobear** represents **no** more a separate claim than does a billing inquiry versus the uncovering of a substantial logging and billing mistake in the case **sub judice**. Judge Ervin in his dissent below recognized the conflict when he stated at pages 8 and 9 of the opinion:

"Clearly there can be **no** accord and satisfaction if all claims are not incorporated within the agreement of the parties. **See** Jobean, *Inc. v. DeWind Machinery Co.*, 402 So.2d 1357, 1358 (Fla.4th DCA 1981).

* * *

"Nevertheless, at the time the accord was reached in March 1985, there was clearly no dispute regarding billing errors uncovered.. • thereafter."

Thus, the Fourth and First Districts have adopted different standards on what constitutes separate and distinct claims for purposes of negating the defense of accord and satisfaction. This conflict should be resolved by this Honorable Court.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated herein, the Jacksonville Electric Authority prays that this Honorable Court will grant certiorari and permit briefing on the merits. The issues raise statewide and national issues of public policy regarding public utilities. Accepting certiorari will **also** permit this Honorable Court an opportunity to clarify the application