IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 73,259

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

All references to the petitioner, Jacksonville Electric Authority will be made by referring to it as "JEA."

The respondent, Draper's Egg and Poultry Co., Inc., a Florida corporation, will be referred to as "Draper's."

All references to the record on appeal will be referred to as "R"; all references to the transcript will be referred to as "Tr"; all references to Plaintiff/JEA's exhibits will be referred to as "Px"; and all references to Defendant/Draper's exhibits will be referred to as "Dx."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Draper's would adopt the Statement of the Case set forth in Petitioner's Jurisdictional Brief.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Statement of Facts by JEA is argumentative and has material omissions and inaccuracies. Accordingly, Draper's submits the following statement of the facts:

The JEA is responsible for the proper reading of water meters of citizens and businesses in Duval County, Florida, and for billing for water and sewer usage based upon proper meter readings (R-66, Pretrial Stipulation). The JEA is seeking to recover \$297,303.85 for unbilled water and sewer services as a result of claimed meter reading errors during a seventeen-month period beginning in November of 1983. Draper's position is that an accord and satisfaction as well as an estoppel preclude re-

covery of that amount.

William E. Draper, Jr., is the owner/operator of Draper's Egg and Poultry Company in Jacksonville, Florida (Tr-90). Mr. Draper is billed for three accounts by the JEA (Tr-94, Px-3). In December of 1984, he had a dispute with the JEA concerning his billings (Tr-95). Prior to that time, he had not had any problems of any major consequence with the JEA with respect to meter readings or discrepancies in bills (Tr-95). In late 1984, he received a bill on one of his accounts that was considerably larger than it had been before. He called the JEA to state that he did not feel that this was a correct billing. He talked with the JEA by telephone several times and at least three times in one week asking the JEA to check on it and get back to him (Tr-95-96, 115).

Mr. Draper received a letter dated January 14, 1985, from Peggy McCullough at the JEA concerning his inquiry (Tr-96, Px-1). Mr. Draper testified that after that letter, they had some correspondence and they were not arriving at any settlement. He wrote a letter to Ms. McCullough in February stating the manner in which he would pay the dispute (Tr-97-98, Px-2). He then testified that after he received another bill, he did not feel that it looked proper. Mr. Draper had challenged the amount of money due on the December bill and could not get any satisfaction from the JEA on this issue. He felt like the best thing he could do was to pay it but to have an understanding that there would not be any more charges after that (Tr-115). He told the JEA

that he did not think that the bill was correct and that the amount was wrong (Tr-118). He asked several people at the JEA to explain it to him and they could not. Finally, he said that if the JEA would write him a letter stating that on payment of that bill, that any and all water and sewer bills for 2400 McCoy Boulevard would be paid in full through February 19, 1985, he would send them a check. He received such a letter and sent them such a check (Tr-99-100).

The letter from the JEA dated March 7, 1985, stated:

Our records reflect these balances for your three (3) Water accounts:

61760-02400-0000-7-00-W	\$25,886.64
61760-02400-0001-6-00-W	4,633.49-
61760-02400-0002-5-00-W	714.42

We are transferring the credit balance of \$4,633.49, per your request, on the account located at 2400 McCoy Bv. #1 to your account listed at 2400 McCoy Bv. The transferring of this credit will reduce the current balance of \$25,886.64 to \$21,253.15.

Enclosed for your convenience are duplicate bills for the two accounts with debit balances, for a total due of \$21,967.57. Once these payments and the transfer of the credit balance has [sic] been posted to your account they will be paid in full through the February 19, 1985 meter readings.

We hope that this information and duplicate bills are of assistance to you. Should you need more information please feel free to contact us at 633-5000.

(Tr-100, Px-3)

Mr. Draper testified that it was his understanding from his dealings with the JEA that this letter from the JEA covered all of the liability for all of the meters (Tr-120).

Mr. Draper sent a check to the JEA dated March 19, 1985, in the amount of \$21,253.15. On the back of the check, Mr. Draper typed the following:

Payment in full through February 19, 1985 for all water and sewer charge for Draper's Egg and Poultry Co., Inc. 2400 McCoy Blvd., Jacksonville, Florida.

(Tr-101, Px-4).

He then received a letter dated March 22, 1985 requesting the balance of \$714.42, which he subsequently paid (Tr-102, Px-5). This amount made up the difference between the check of March 19, 1985, and the amount set forth in the March 7, 1985, letter. After that check was mailed to the JEA, as far as Mr. Draper was concerned, all of his water billing accounts were paid in full through February 19, 1985 (Tr-102-103).

Mrs. Renee Foster, an employee of the JEA, testified that her supervisor, Mrs. Sanders, wrote the March 7, 1985, letter and told Mrs. Foster to sign it (Tr-127). She also testified that the letter was to explain to Mr. Draper what the JEA was doing (Tr-128). Mr. Draper asked for the balances on all three of his accounts (Tr-129). She, as well as Ms. Sanders, acknowledged that the letter tells Mr. Draper that when he pays the balances noted that his account at the JEA would be paid in full through the February 19, 1985, meter readings (Tr-129, 136). Mrs. Foster said she had the authority to sign the March 7, 1985, letter because her supervisor asked her to sign it (Tr-132).

Judy Wallace, a JEA division chief, testified that the JEA has a procedure to reduce a disputed water bill (Tr-142). Mrs.

Wallace also testified that the March 7, 1987, letter tells Mr. Draper that if he pays the sums set forth that his account would be paid in full through the February 19, 1985, meter readings (Tr-146). She also said that the JEA has the authority to agree with a customer on what it takes to pay in full as of a certain meter reading date (Tr-146).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The record contains sufficient evidence of the elements of accord and satisfaction to the JEA's attempt to recover unbilled water and sewer charges.

With respect to the accord and satisfaction defense, the record shows a dispute pertaining to all three of Mr. Draper's water and sewer accounts with two communications between the JEA and Mr. Draper. The March 7, 1985, letter and the notation on the March 19, 1985, check clearly manifests the parties' mutual assent to resolve all of Draper's water and sewer charges through February 19, 1985. Furthermore, the evidence, testimony, and inferences therefrom show that the JEA knew or should have known of the unbilled amounts at that time. When a public utility seeks to recover underbilled amounts, the defense of accord and satisfaction can apply where it is based on a dispute.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL,
FIRST DISTRICT, DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH THE
HOLDING OF CORPORATION De GESTION STE-FOY,
INC. v. FLORIDA POWER AND LIGHT COMPANY

The holding of Corporation De Gestion Ste-Foy, Inc. v. Florida Power and Light Company, 385 So.2d 124 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980), is distinguishable from the instant case, and therefore does not apply. In De Gestion, the public utility customer sought to avoid underbilled electric charges on two grounds, neither of which has been raised in the instant case. First, the customer argued that the power company was estopped from collecting amounts it had negligently underbilled. Second, it argued that an accord and satisfaction had been effected by the payment of the power company's successive monthly billings in the interim. The De Gestion court's rationale for rejecting the accord and satisfaction defense as expressed in footnote 2 of the opinion was that mere payment of an erroneous monthly bill does not constitute an accord because no claim was either unliquidated or in dispute. In the instant case, the accord and satisfaction was based on the trial court's finding of a dispute. As the trial court explained:

In the instant case, JEA is seeking an amount representing erroneous underbillings for a period between December 16, 1983, and October 17, 1985. However, unlike De Gestion or the cases cited therein, the facts in the case now before this Court reveal that in the latter part of 1984, Draper's questioned and disputed its water billings, and finally after correspondence and discussions on March 19, 1985, the JEA accepted a substantial sum of money from Draper's in full satisfaction of Draper's water billings for all three accounts through the February 19, 1985, meter readings. During the dispute with Draper's over the water bills and upon accepting Draper's check in full satisfaction of said water bills, JEA knew, or in the exercise of reasonable care, should have known at that time of the erroneous

underbillings. JEA accepted Draper's payment in March of 1985 in full satisfaction of Draper's accounts through the February, 1985 meter readings.

(Final Judgment, page 6)

The cases cited in De Gestion merely preclude an accord and satisfaction based solely on the payment of a public utility's successive monthly billings without an intervening dispute. The court in De Gestion, by its reasoning in footnote 2, suggests that the existence of such a dispute is determinative of the validity of the defense of accord and satisfaction in this situation.

In West Penn Power Co. v. Nationwide Mutual Insurance Co., 209 Pa.Super. 509, 228 A.2d 218 (1967), the court explicitly limited its holding to the facts of that case. The court stated:

The fact that the erroneous monthly statements were paid by checks endorsed 'Your endorsement hereon constitutes a receipt and relief in full for all accounts and claims mentioned in the attached statement' does not constitute, under the facts in this case, an accord and satisfaction. The dispute arose as a result of rebilling at the end of the thirty-one month period. There was no dispute during the period that the utility was accepting and endorsing the checks for the account as billed. A dispute is an essential element of accord and satisfaction. (Emphasis supplied.)

228 A.2d, at 220.

Permitting an accord and satisfaction following a dispute over negligent underbilling raises different policy considerations from excusing the negligent underbilling initially. Public policy would be served by encouraging public utilities once an

issue is raised as to consumption of service to diligently discover the facts and resolve any billing errors at the earliest time .

In its opinion in this case, the District Court of Appeal, First District, held that a dispute did in fact occur between Draper's and JEA. The District Court found that after an exchange of telephone calls and correspondence and receiving another bill which Draper's questioned, Draper's offered to pay the outstanding balance upon an understanding that its account would then be paid in full. JEA advised Draper's as to the amount due for payment in full through the February 19, 1985, meter readings. Draper's then sent JEA a check containing a notation reflecting such payment in full. The Court went on to note that in De Gestion, the customer asserted that its payment of erroneous monthly bills effected an accord and satisfaction and estopped the public utility from collecting for accrued undercharges. This contention was rejected in light of the public policy espoused by Section 366.03, Florida Statutes, which provides that public utility shall not give any undue or unreasonable preference for or advantage to any person. In concluding, the First District Court of Appeal held that De Gestion did not involve any identified dispute or negotiated settlement at the time of payment, and went on to state that it did not consider a public utility settlement of a disputed bill to be an undue preference or advantage or to contravene public policy and according-

ly declined to extend De Gestion to the circumstances of the instant case.

POINT II

THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT'S
DECISION IS NOT IN CONFLICT WITH THE CASE OF
JOBEAR, INC. v. DEWIND MACHINERY COMPANY.

Jobear, Inc. v. Dewind Machinery Co., 402 So.2d 1357 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981), cited by the JEA, is distinguishable from the present case. In that case, the court held that the plaintiff's acceptance of a check in payment of a claim for parts and labor which expressly said that its endorsement would constitute a full and complete release of the defendant did not act as an accord and satisfaction as to a rental claim of the plaintiff against the defendant. Here, we do not have claims for two separate types of items, such as parts and labor versus rental. The discussions, correspondence and consequent check from Draper's pertain to the same water and sewer services which are the subject of the underbilling and this lawsuit.

In Jobear, the endorsement did not refer to the rental claim in question. In the present case, Draper's check endorsement referred to "payment in full through February 19, 1985, for all water and sewer charge for Draper's Egg and Poultry Co., Inc., 2400 McCoy Blvd., Jacksonville, Florida." (Emphasis supplied.) Furthermore, the Jobear court noted that the endorsement on the check was not accompanied by any explanatory letter as in other cases finding an accord and satisfaction. Here, the JEA wrote Draper's a letter stating that once the sum of \$21,967.57 was